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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS

)
)
BETHZAIDA DELGADO, et al., )
)
Plaintiffs, )
)
V. ) Civil Action No. 12-cv-10872
)
WILLIAM F. GALVIN, )
in hisofficial capacity as Secretary of the )
Commonwealth of Massachusetts, et al., )
)
Defendants. )
)
)
MEMORANDUM AND ORDER
CASPER, J. March 14, 2014

l. I ntroduction

Plaintiffs Bethzaida Delgado (“Delda’), NAACP-New England Area Conference
(“NAACP”) and New England United for Justi¢@®New England United”) have sued Defendants
William F. Galvin, in his official capacity aSecretary of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts
(“the Secretary”), JudyAnn BigbyW.D. (“Bigby”), in her official capacity as (now former)
Secretary of the Executive Office of Health &hgman Services (*HHS”), and Daniel J. Curley,
in his official capacity as (now former) @wnissioner of the Department of Transitional
Assistance (“DTA”), alleging violations of Seéah 7 of the National Voter Registration Act of

1993, 42 U.S.C. § 1973gg (“NVRA"). D. 1. The Plaintiffs have moved to amend their
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complaint, D. 62, and to compel the Defendargsponses to their requests for the production of
documents, D. 58. The Defendants have mdwed judgment on the pleadings. D. 75.

For the reasons discussed below, @murt ALLOWS the motion to amend, D. 62,
ALLOWS IN PART and DENIES IN PART the motion to compel, D. 58, and DENIES the
motion for judgment on the pleadings, D. 75.

. Factual Allegations

The facts recited here are as alleged in the complaint, D. 1, unless otherwise noted.

A. Background

The National Voter Registration Act @B93, 42 U.S.C. § 1973gg (“NVRA"), mandates
that public assistance offices provide voteygistration services with each application,
recertification, rerwal or change of address to theileotele. 42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-5(a)(6)(A);
D. 1 at 2. Enacted to make eotregistration more “‘conveniemnd readily available [for] the
poor . . . who do not have driver’s licenses and mall come into contactitir the other principle
[sic] place to register under this Act [namely,torovehicle departments],” D. 1 at 2-3 (citing
42 U.S.C. 8§ 1973gg(b)(1) and quoting H.R. Cddép. No. 103-66, at 15 (Apr. 28, 1993)), the
NVRA requires all public assistanofices to distribute a votgreference form, which provides
information to clients about the t&y registration process. .15 (citing NVRA). The agency

must provide the client assistanwith completing the form

d. 16 (citing NVRA).

The Secretary is the Commonwealth’s “chekdction official” for NVRA purposes. |d]
9. As chief election official, he is respdnle for coordinating the Commonwealth’s NVRA
responsibilities._1d.

The NAACP is an organization that, amonbestmissions, encourages voter registration

and election patrticipation. _1dq} 7. Because of the Commonwealthlleged violations of the



NVRA, described below, the NAACP has sentwtkers to assist low-income people who
should have been offered votegisration and education servideg the Defendants as required

by the NVRA, but were not._Id.

L
New England United is a non-profit comniiynorganization thatencourages voter
registration and electioparticipation. _Idf] 8. After completing intgiews of individuals who
had visited DTA offices, New iifjland Justice discovered thmimerous DTA clients were not
receiving NVRA-mandated servicesid has used additional resoes to assist DTA clients in

registering to vote. Id.

B. Allegations of State-Wide Violations of the NVRA

The Plaintiffs allege that the CommonweathiMassachusetts has failed to comply with
the NVRA through “flawed practices and policies, insufficient oversight and inadequate
enforcement,” contributing to an incorbased “voter registration gap.” _lat 3.

Delgado, for instance, is a Massachusetts reswleatis eligible to register to vote. Ifi.

6. She receives public assistance. f@n June 24, 2011, Delgadcsited the DTA office in
Lowell to recertify her eligibility for certain benefits. Iduring that visit, she was not offered
the opportunity to register tote or to changler voter registration address. IShe does not
recall ever being offered the opportunity to registevote at a DTA office or during any of her
interactions with the MassHealth enrollment cetevhere she also receives services. Id.

Between May and December 2011, New Endl United represeritaes visited DTA
offices in several Massachusetts cities. l®6. During those visits, the DTA offices failed to
comply with the NVRA by failing to offer voteregistration opportuniis, distribute voter

registration forms and keep them in supply. 71@6.



C. Notice L etter and Subsequent M eeting with the Secretary

On December 8, 2011, the Plaintiffs sent ateth the Secretary to provide written notice
of alleged NVRA violations and requesting thia¢ Commonwealth implement a plan to remedy
the violations._IdY 39. DTA and HHS were copied on the letter. Id.

Representatives from the inveld parties met to discussetilaintiffs’ concerns about
NVRA violations on February 9, 2012. 191.40. The Plaintiffs allegthat the attedees agreed
to have a second meeting on February 22, 200@that on February7, 2012, the Defendants’
representatives cancelldtie meeting and instead sent aitt@n response to the Plaintiffs’
December 8, 2011 letter. I§] 40, 41.

On March 6, 2012, the Secretary’s Electiongeblior sent a letteto the Plaintiffs
describing the “single” change to the voter ségition policies that would be implemented by
the Commonwealth, idf 41, which the Plaintiffs found tbe unsatisfactory to remedy the
alleged NVRA violations._Idf 39. This suit followed.

[Il1.  Procedural History

The Plaintiffs initiated this suit on May 15, 2012, seeking declaratory and injunctive
relief and asking the Court to order that the Ddénts comply with Section 7 of the NVRA. D.
1. Since then, the Plaintiffs durght the instant motion to compble Defendants’ responses to
their requests for production, D. 58, and moved déawveé to file an amended complaint. D. 62.
The Defendants have moved for a judgment enplleadings. D. 75. A&dr a hearing, the Court
took these matters under advisement. D. 104.

V. Standards of Review

A. M otion to Amend Complaint




“The court should freely giveeve when justice so requiresfed. R. Civ. P. 15(a). “In
the absence of any apparent or declaredoreasuch as undue delay, bad faith or dilatory
motive on the part of the movangpeated failure to cure deficiencies by amendments previously
allowed, undue prejudice to the opposing party Iojugiof allowance of the amendment, futility
of amendment, etc.—the leave sought shouldhasules require, be freely given.” Foman v.
Davis 371 U.S. 178, 182 (1962) (quotations omitted).

B. M otion for Judgment on the Pleadings

“A motion for judgment on the phdings is treated much dila Rule 12(b)(6) motion to

dismiss.” Perez—Acevedo v. Rivero—Cubatd0 F.3d 26, 29 (1st Cir. 2008) (citing Curran v.

Cousins 509 F.3d 36, 43—44 (1st Cir. 2007)). “[Thehgaaint must contain factual allegations
that ‘raise a right toelief above the speculative level, o tassumption thatlahe allegations

in the complaint are true. . . .””_Perez—Acevefd0 F.3d at 29 (quoting Bell Atlantic Corp. v.

Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007)). “[A]Jn adequate complaint must provide fair notice to the

defendants and state a facighhausible legal claim.”_€asio—Hernandez v. Fortufio—Burset0

F.3d 1, 12 (1st Cir. 2011). The Court must vithe facts in the light most favorable to the

Plaintiffs. Perez—Aceved20 F.3d at 29 (citation omitted).

In reviewing the motion, the Court mayrsider, in addition to the complaint and
answer, “documents the authenticity of whicle awot disputed by the ges; . . . documents

central to plaintiffs’ claim; [and] documents daféntly referred to in the complaint.””_Curran

509 F.3d at 44 (quoting Watterson v. Pa@f7 F.2d 1, 3 (1st Cir. 1993NEPSK, Inc. v. Town

of Houlton 283 F.3d 1, 8 (1st Cir. 2002).



C. M otion to Compe

“[Fed. R. Civ. P.] 26(b)(1) allows discoveoy ‘any nonprivileged matter that is relevant

to any party’s claim or defense.In re Subpoena to Witzeb31 F.3d 113, 118 (1st Cir. 2008)

(quoting Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(b)(1)). “A partyeseng broader discovery of any matter relevant
to the subject matter involved in the action, is required to show good cause to support the

request.” _In re Subpoena to Witz&l31 F.3d at 118 (citation and quotations omitted). The

moving party bears the burden of showrefgvance._Caouette v. OfficeMax, In852 F. Supp.

2d 134, 136 (D.N.H. 2005).

V. Discussion

A. The Defendants Wer e Provided Adequate Pre-Suit Notice

The Court first addresses the issue at th@eceof the instant motions — whether the
Plaintiffs’ December 8, 2011 letter was sufficiergjyecific such that it provided the Defendants
with adequate pre-suit notice of their claims, as mandated by the NVRA.

The parties do not dispute that a pre-suit demand letter was a prerequisite to filing this
lawsuit alleging NVRA violations42 U.S.C. 8§ 1973gg-9(b)(1)-(2); sBe 76; D. 86; D. 66 at 8,

n.7. The parties also do not dispute thatRlaentiffs in this case sent a demand lett8eeD.

76 at 2; D. 86 at 12. Rather, the Defendantdesal only that the Court should enter judgment
in their favor because the Plaintiffs’ letter was swfficiently particular; e., that it did not make
allegations in their letter concerning the Office of Medicaid’s administration of MassHealth or
“remote transactions” for public as&nce benefits. D. 76 at 2.

The face of the NVRA leaves unresolved thecsiicity required for a demand letter to
provide adequate pre-suit notite a state. Likewise, thelie no binding case law on this

particular issue concerning the NVRA. Theu@t concludes, howeveafter considering the



stated Congressional purpose of the notice piawj the NVRA'’s overall goal to remedy states’
failures to adequately provideoting services to low-incomeitizens and case law, which the
Court finds persuasive, examininige specificity required in a @fsuit notice letter, that the
Plaintiffs’ December 8, 2011 notice letter was sufficient to satisfy the NVRA’'s notice
requirement.

1. Contenbf theLetter

In the December 8, 2011 letter, New Engladnited notified the Secretary that its
investigation “demonstrate[d] that Massachus@ttas] systematically failing to provide the
voter registration services mandatey the NVRA at its public assistance offices.” D. 1-1. The
letter provided a synopsis of the data the Plaintiffs analyzed, ultimately concluding that “the
number of voter registtiwn applications submitted at Massachusetts public assistance offices
has decreased precipitously in the last decade. The letter provided statistics regarding voter
registration activity apublic assistance offices and among-Jomcome residents generally across
the Commonwealth. Id.

The letter summarized the Commonwealth’s purported non-compliance with the NVRA,
providing field observations @TA and WIC offices. _Id. Bigby, Curley, and John Auerbach,
Commissioner of the Department of Pulilealth, were copiedn the letter. _Id. Finally, the
letter stated that it was sergirfas a notice letter pursuatd 42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-9(b) in an
attempt to obtain compliance with the publisiatance provisions ahe NVRA without the
need for litigation. . . . We areqpared to meet with you and otlstate officials, at your earliest
convenience, to assist in your developmerd obmprehensive plan for compliance.” 1d.

2. Statutory Interpretation SupportetiConclusion that the Letter Was
Sufficient



When interpreting a statute, the Court firsedns with the language of the statute.” In
re Hill, 562 F.3d 29, 32 (1st Cir. 200@)tations omitted). “We assuwe that the words Congress
chose, if not specially defined, carry their plain and ordinary meaning.(citthg Boivin v.
Black, 225 F.3d 36, 40 (1st Cir. 2000))Absent ambiguity, the inquirgnds with the text of the

statute.” _Campbell v. Washington Cnty. Technical Cal9 F.3d 3, 6 (1st Cir. 2000).

“Of course, plain meaning sometimes mysld if its applicdion would bring about
results that are either abswdantithetical to Congress’s discernibiéent.” In re Hill, 562 F.3d
at 32. “In determining congssional intent, we employ theaditional tools of statutory
construction, including a congdhtion of the language, struatumpurpose, and history of the
statute.” _Id.(citation omitted). “It is a fundamental canon of statutory construction that the
words of a statute must be read in their eshtand with a view tdheir place in the overall

statutory scheme.”_Davis v. Mich. Dept. of Tred89 U.S. 803, 809 (1989).

Here, the NVRA's plain language, the disable Congressional int¢ behind the notice
requirement and the statutory cexit weigh in favor of concluding that the notice letter in this
case was sufficient.

The NVRA provides for a private right of taan in federal court. “A person who is
aggrieved by a violation of [thVRA] may provide written noticef the violation to the chief
election official of the Statenvolved.” 42 U.S.C. 8§ 1973gg-9(b)(1 “If the violation is not
corrected within 90 days after receipt of [that] notice . . . or within 20 days after receipt of the
notice if the violation occurred within 120 days lrefthe date of an election for Federal office,
the aggrieved person may bringiail action in an appropriate sirict court for declaratory or
injunctive relief with respedo the violation.” _1d.§ 1973gg-9(b)(2). By its express terms, the

statute does not provide requirengeabout the contents of this fiiten notice of the violation.”



As to congressional intent regarding tpi®vision, the Court notes that a February 25,
1993 report from the Senate Committee oteRand Administratin observed that:

[private civil enforcement] can encouragegi@t to assure that a reasonable effort is
undertaken to achieve its obje@svin all States and, indegdmay be essdial to the
success of such a program in some areas. Private civil enforcement should be designed to
assure and to encourage, to the fullestréxpessible, the cooperation of local and State
election officials responsible for implementatiof the voter registration programs. An
essential element of an effective civil em@ment program is a requirement for notice of

any complaint regarding its implementationthe appropriate electn officials together

with a process for its administrative redaa before legal action may be commenced.

S. Rep. No. 103-6, at 21 (1993) (recommending passd the NVRA, which was thereafter
enacted on May 20, 1993). Skd.. 103-31, May 20, 1993, 107 Sta7. It appears that the
Congressional purpose of the iget requirement was to providee state with notice of its
alleged failings and then afford the state some “process” by which it can attempt to cure these
alleged failings. Such an articulation is consist@ith one of the stated statutory purposes of

the NVRA'’s implementation — to “establish proceskithat will increase the number of eligible
citizens who register to vota elections for Federal office.” 42 U.S.C. 8 1973gg(b)(1).

3. Case Law Further Supports aorielusion that the Notice Letter Was
Sufficient

When considered in concert with the discel@miCongressional intetd provide notice to
election officials of their allegedly improper pementation of the NVRA, relevant case law
further supports the Court’s conclusion that the notice letter was sufficient. While few cases
address the requisite specificipf a NVRA notice letter, cots have held that the notice
requirement was designed to provide stateh wie opportunity to correct NVRA violations

prior to allowing plaintiffs to litigate._See, e.d\ss’'n of Cmty. Orgamations for Reform Now

v. Miller, 129 F.3d 833, 838 (6th Cir. 1997) (finding thiaé text and legislative history of the

NVRA indicate that notice requirement provides tasain violation of the\ct an opportunity to
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attempt compliance before facing litigation”); Ferrand v. Schedigr. 11-926, 2011 WL

3268700, at *6 (E.D. La. Julgl, 2011) (quoting Miller129 F.3d at 838). For one example,

Georgia State Conference of N.A.A.C.P. v. KerBd1 F. Supp. 2d 1320 (N.D. Ga. 2012),

involved a factual scenario similar teetfacts of the instant case. _In Kerthe plaintiffs’ notice
letter alleged that “Georgia [was] systematicddlifing to provide the voter registration services
required under the NVRA at its public asamste offices.” 841 F. Supp. 2d at 1333-34. In
concluding that the notice lettwas sufficient, the Kempourt found compelling — as does this
Court — that “[tlhe defendants [] admit[ted] thtaey were informed of the plaintiffs’ position
that Georgia was failing to comply with the matedaof the NVRA in the broadest sense.” dd.
1334. The court elaborated:
The general proposition—that Georgia wast complying with the mandates of the
NVRA, especially with respécto providing voter regisation services at public
assistance offices and having in place politeeBmit any services actually provided to
in-person transactions—is set out clearly in the notice letter. The letter's statistics and
investigation results simply serve as fattsapport for that gemal proposition. . . .
Especially in light of statistics provided the letter showing @recipitous decline in
voter registration through Georgia publissistance offices over 12—year period, the
letter's content was adequate.
Id. Similarly, in Ferrandthe court considered a notice letsgmilar to the one at issue here.
Likewise, the Defendants there contested the seffay of the notice letter. Specifically, the
state of Louisiana contended thia¢ plaintiffs did not satisfthe notice requirement because the
letter “did not identify the specific persons agged for the violations, di not detail the factual
bases for the violations, and did not identify ith@ividual offices where the violations allegedly
occurred.” _Ferrand?011 WL 3268700, at *6. The court reffed these arguments, holding that
the letter “provided enough detail to enable [thef election official] tonvestigate the alleged

violations and attempt to comply with the NVRA before facing litigation.” Adg. in Kemp the

Ferrandcourt held that a notice letter “sent . to defendants informing them that Louisiana

10



public assistance agencies were not in compliance with the NVRA” was sufficient to satisfy the
notice requirement. Idat *1, *6. Although, as the Defendamiste, the notice letter in Ferrand
“identified the allegedly non-compliant publéssistance offices,” 2011 WL 3268700 at *6, the
Court’s focus was on whether the “letter providatbugh detail to enabl¢he chief election
officer] to investigate the alleged violations and attempt to comply with the NVRA before facing
litigation.” Id.

Here, the Court agrees with the Plaintitisit the December 8, 2011 notice letter put the
Secretary of this Commonwealth, the chietation officer, on noticeof allegations of
widespread, state-wide NVRA vations at public assistance offices. The letter alleged that
“Massachusetts is systematicalfyling to provideservices mandated byagiNVRA at its public
assistance offices.” D. 1-1. The letter contohugiln short, Massachusetts must change its
facially noncompliant policy and institute procedures to ensure that frontline workers perform
their federally mandated responsibility toopide voter registratio services.” _Id. The letter
demanded a plan from the Secretary and “otlate sifficials” to develop a “comprehensive plan
for compliance.” _Id. Further, the letter alleged thistassachusetts’s noncairance with the
NVRA was also a result of “its implementation afvoter registration policy that violates [the
NVRA].” Id. The letter claims that agency manuals — including the Voter Registration
Workbook for Agencies — provided instructions footer application distribution that did not
comply with the NVRA. _ld. As support for these allegatigrte notice letter included state-
wide aggregate statistic§amming the Secretary that:

we have determined that the number of voter registration applications submitted at

Massachusetts public assistance offices hasedeed precipitously in the last decade —

from 26,984 at the peak in 1999-2000 to 2,007 in 2009-2010, a reduction of 92.5%.

Indeed, this low level of voter registratiortiaity at public assistance offices is reflected
in the low voter registration rates ofdeincome citizens in Massachusetts.

11



D. 1-1. The Court finds that these allegationsviate sufficient notice thathe Plaintiffs were
alleging widespread and systemic problemthexCommonwealth with NVRA compliance.

In addition, to the extent thHgefendants argue thtte letter did not puhem on notice of
allegations of NVRA violations at the Office ddassHealth, the Plaiffts not only copied the
letter to the HHS Secretary, but also statetheletter that the HHS Secretary was “responsible
to ensure that local offices are implementthg law and thus are responsible for effective
supervision of local offices to ensure comptiari D. 1-1. The Defendants have acknowledged
that the Office of MassHealth, like DTA andPH, is an entity falling under the HHS
“umbrella,” D. 66 at 5, n.5, and for the puses of these motions,alDefendants have not
disputed that MassHealth enroliment centeespamlic assistance offices for NVRA purpodes.
While the Plaintiffs included examples of speciillegations of violations observed at the DTA
and WIC offices in their letter, the letter does specify that only DTA ad WIC offices were in
violation. To the contrary, the letter refes “local offices” and general “compliance with
public assistance provisions of the NVRA.” D. 1-1.

To the extent the Defendants rely Nat'l Council of La Raza v. Mille©914 F. Supp. 2d

1201 (D. Nev. 2012), in support of their positioattthe notice lettewas inadequate, s&® 66
at 11, the Court declines to addpé interpretation of La Razdfered by the Defendants. In La
Raza the plaintiffs sent a demand letter te tefendants alleging non-compliance with the

NVRA and asserting that “field investigations . make clear that Nevada’s public assistance

offices still have not achieved compliance wilieir obligations under the NVRA.” _La Raza

The Defendants describe the Office of Masalth (also called the Division of Medical
Assistance or the Office of Megdid) as “an entity within [HHS] that administers Medicaid
benefits in Massachusetts.” D. 66 at 2; Be&6 at 12 (“[U]nlike in [Ferrand ¥ Schedler here
the Notice Letter failed to idéify “the allegedly non-complianpublic assistance offices,”
because it did not identify MassHeatththe Office of Medicaid”).

12



914 F. Supp. 2d at 1205, 1208. The defendants dntivelismiss the complaint, arguing that
because the field investigations occurreddecember 2011, in sending their demand letter on
May 10, 2012, the plaintiffs provided the defemidaonly 20 days of notice by filing their
lawsuit on June 5, 2012. ldt 1206, 1208-09. The La Raeaurt held thatthe aggrieved
person must give notice of the specific viaatiwith the date of its occurrence, and all
provisional notice requirements thalate to the violation.”_ldat 1212. However, the La Raza
decision focused primarily on the timiog the Plaintiffs’ notice, aspposed to the content of the
allegations contained in the notice letter. #keat 1211. Even insofar as the La Rapart
intended to extend its holding &l allegations of “continuouand ongoing” NVRA violations,
the Court concludes that such an interpretatonld frustrate the purpose of the NVRA where
the Commonwealth was on notice of the breaditksddlleged violations of the NVRA.

The Defendants also argue that the “NVRA'’s notice requirement serves to give the state
an opportunity to cure angutative violations beforéacing litigation, and only if the specific
violation identified by a plaitiff has not been cured.” D. 76 &t In support of this position, the
Defendants point the Court to the fact tha¢ tRlaintiffs “opted not to sue DPH over its
administration of the WIC program, based on DPH&pomses to the Notice Letter.” D. 66 at 9—
10. “Had Plaintiffs mentioned MassHealthalt in its Notice Letter,or alleged any NVRA
violation in the administratiomf MassHealth benefitsthe way it did with respect to SOC,
DTA, and DPH—Defendants coultave involved the Office dMedicaid in discussions with
Plaintiffs about possible changes)d could have informed Plaifiti in the Response Letter of
actions being taken by MassHialvith respect to NVRA issues.” D. 66 at 10.

The Court finds this argument unavailing. As the Plaintiffs allege in their complaint, and

as remains undisputed by the Defendants, onuaep19, 2012, representads of the Plaintiffs

13



met with representatives frothe Secretary’s office, HHS arfdTA to discuss the Plaintiffs’
concerns. D. 1 1 40. On k& 6, 2012, the Secretary’s Elects Director set a written
response to the demand letter, Yd41, reflecting, according to the complaint, a single policy
change that would affect public assistance offices, which the Plaidé&med inadequate to
resolve their concerns. |§.41-43. While the Court acknowledges the Defendants’ argument
that were they provided more specific noticet@purported Office oMassHealth violations,
they may have opted to take “some opportunitgddrack and investigate areas that are subject
to some changing requirements and to fully ssséhether changes would be necessary or would
be possible,” Transcript of Motion Hearing (D07 at 39), as discussed above, the Plaintiffs’
complaints in the notice letter applied to albpa assistance offices. As discussed above, the
Defendants have not disputed that the MassHealthllment centers constitute public assistance
offices. See als®roposed Amended Complaint (D. 62t10 (alleging thaHHS administers
MassHealth, a “public assistanceogram” and that “[a]ny stateffece that administers these
programs must comply with the requirements the NVRA”). That is, the Court cannot
conclude, given the breadth of the allegationthe December 8, 2011 letter and the course of
conduct between the parties aftiee letter was sent, dhthe Defendants wekeithout sufficient
notice regarding allegations abaudtassHealth or wereffectively foreclosed from remedying
this subset of the Plaintiffs’ complaintsbout widespread NVRA violations. That the
Defendants offered a single remedy in responseetmotice letter, choset to pursue DPH and,
only after this complaint was filed, reachedremgnent about certain dhe remedies that
Plaintiffs sought, D. 35-1, dsenot compel a different colusion, particularly where the

complaint contained allegationsgarding MassHealth. S&e 1 11 6, 48-50.
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In sum, the purpose of the notice requiram@orked as it was intended to — after
receiving notice of the widespre®dYRA violations alleged by the Plaintiffs, the parties met and
discussed an administrative remedy for the viomet, part of which the Defendants then agreed
to adopt, but which the Plaintiffs found asadequate to the breadth of its complaints.
Subsequently, the Plaintiffs sought jaidi relief, as the NVRA allows.

Defendants’ reliance upon €& v. Cecos Int'l, In¢.761 F.2d 76, 82 (1€ir. 1985), in

support of their argument that had the notice lettere specific, the state would have “far more
flexibility in determining how to bring itselinto compliance when it's not being forced to
defend itself in litigation,” D. 107 at 39, also doex warrant a different result. While the Court
acknowledges the cited proposition in Garthiat “[a]fter the complaint is filed the parties
assume an adversary relationshigt thakes cooperation less likely,”,ithe Court notes that the
cooperation in this caseems to have already dissolved.e Hiaintiffs have filed suit because
they concluded that the remethe Defendants initially offered after the notice letter was not
sufficient to resolve what they believe to be systemic flaws in the manner in which the NVRA is
being implemented at public assistance agenacross the Commonwealth, D. 1 { 39, and has
continued even as the parties have settle@dioceaspects of their dispute. D. 35-1.

For all of the reasons discussed above Qbart finds that the Plaintiffs’ demand letter
was sufficient to provide the Defdants adequate gxsuit notice.

B. The Court Allows Plaintiffs to Amend the Complaint

In light of the ruling above that the pre-suit notice letter was sufficient, the Court rules
below on the pending motions.
First, the Plaintiffs seek to (1) add aBDafendant Kristin Thorn, imer official capacity

as Director of the Office of MassHealth and (2) add additional factual allegations to the
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complaint concerning NVRA violations by thdfi0e of MassHealth. D. 62. The NVRA directs
that each state “designate a State officer or eyg@ as the chief Stateeetion official to be
responsible for coordination of State respoitisgs under this subchapter.” 42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-
8. While it also permits a private right of actikmnproceed in federal court after such notice to
such chief election official, 42 U.S.C. § 1973gd)9(there is nothing in the NVRA that limits
such actions to proceedingaly against that officiaf.

The Defendants argue thaetRlaintiffs’ motion to amad was unduly delayed and would
cause undue hardship to HEISD. 73 at 10-14. The parties, however, entered into a joint
scheduling agreement, providing that “[e]xtémr good cause show, no motions seeking leave
to add new parties or to amend the pleadingss$eranew claims or defses may be filed after
July 1, 2013.” _Se®. 37. The Court subsequently adoptieid provision of the parties’ jointly
proposed schedule. D. 36, 37. Adalagly, the Court’s schedulingrder allow the Plaintiffs to
move to amend their complaint until July 1 dhd Plaintiffs moved to amend their complaint on
June 24, 2013, D. 62, within theneé frame adopted by the CouRurther, this case has not yet
been scheduled for trial, some discovery disputes remain, and the deadline for filing summary
judgment motions has not yet passed. D. 37Dsdd 1.

While the Defendants also assert that agdhe Office of MassHealtvould “drastically
expand the scope of this litigation,” D. 73 at it2s not clear that the parties had not already

anticipated, at least to some axtethat the Plaintiffs would seek to pursue action against this

’Here, the Plaintiffs addressed the demandrléitéhe chief electionfficial, as required,
but also copied on the lettertiother named Defendants, inchuglithe HHS Secretary. D. 1-1.

*The Defendants also argue that allowing the amended complaint would be futile because
the Plaintiffs failed to issue ersuit notice to the Office of MaHealth, as their notice letter
“contained no reference whatsoever to MassHealtheoOffice of Medicaid.” D. 73 at5, 7. As
discussed above, the notice regagdOffice of MassHealth claimsas sufficient, and therefore,
adding the Office of Medicaid as a Defendant and factual support for such claims in the
complaint would not be futile.
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party. Some of the discovery &sthis agency has been undervand, in fact, was one of the
subjects of the instant motion to compel. Be&8; see als®laintiffs’ Requests for Production
of Documents (D. 74-1); Noticef Deposition of HHS Secretaip. 74-2 at 6) (including as
deposition topics “EOHHS’s administratioof the Medicaid progra through MassHealth,
including but not limited to . . . whetherna if so how, voter registration services are
contemplated within structure and oversightgd avho has responsibility for voter registration
services in any way” and “[w]heti, and if so how, voter regiation services are offered during
any MassHealth, Virtual Gateway other Medicaid applicatiorrenewal, recertification, or
change of address process . . .").

For the same reasons, and in light of the Defendants’ same objections, the Court will also
allow the Plaintiffs to add facts to their colaipt alleging NVRA violaions by the Office of
MassHealth. D. 62.

Finally, to the extent the Plaintiffs seekdmend the complaint toorrect typographical
and other formatting errors and to update thmewof the named Plaintiffs’ predecessors, the
Court allows such amendment. $2e63 at 2, n. 2; D. 62-1.

For these reasons, the CoMLOWS the motion to amend.

“The Defendants have also moved for leave to file a sur-reply brief in opposition to the
Plaintiffs’ motion to amend. D. 89. This brief raises only oneeissthat the Plaintiffs did not
comply with Local Rule 15.1(b) because thejefdto properly servéhe Office of MassHealth
prior to filing the motion to amend. D. 89-1. The Court ALLOWSc pro tundhe motion for
leave to file the sur-replbrief, D. 89. To the extent the f2adants request that the Court deny
the Plaintiffs’ motion to amend on the groundsimproper service, the Court finds that the
Plaintiffs’ subsequent Jy 30, 2013 service, sde. 82, suffices, given #i the Defendants have
not asserted that late sex@icaused them any prejudice, Bee39-1, and the Court does not find
any such prejudice exists in any evdat,the reasons discussed above.

17



C. The Court Deniesthe Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings

The Defendants first argue that Delgatiowdd be dismissed from the case because she
did not provide pre-suit notice and becatise Defendants have cured any alleged NVRA
violations pertaining to her. 06 at 6. The Plaintiffs haveow voluntarily moved to withdraw
Delgado as a named Plaintiff. D. 103. Teurt ALLOWS that motion, D. 103, and therefore
finds that the issue of whether ttoav claims brought by Delgado is moot.

The Defendants further argue that any allegatimade with respect to both the Office of
Medicaid and “remote transagtis” should be dismissed becatise Plaintiffs did not provide
the Defendants with adequate pre-suit notice e$¢hclaims. The Court has addressed this first
issue above and addresses the second issueinggaamote transactions” below and denies the
motion on this basis.

Similarly, at the hearing, the Defendants argued in further support of the motion for
judgment on the pleadings that because Delgado has withdrawn from the case, and since the only
specific reference with respettt MassHealth was in referente Delgado, thecomplaint has
failed to state a claim in regard to MassHealithe Court concludes &h the facts regarding
Delgado, in addition to the additional facts and allegations added in the amended complaint
regarding MassHealth, only providerther factual support for the claims already made in the
complaint — that the Commonwealth has violdteslNVRA by failing to comly with the statute
at its public assistance agencies. The Defesddminot appear to comig that the complaint’s
factual allegations are wholly inadequate. Be&6 at 5; D. 107 at 26.

Finally, in regard to the “remote transacis,” the Defendants argtigat the notice letter
raises concerns only about in-person applicatiansgl not “remote transactions,” such as mail,

telephone or internet transaction®. 76 at 8-9. However, as the Defendants conceded at the
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hearing, “there is a fundamental ambiguity in the statute” as to whether the NVRA actually
intended to apply to remote transactions. D.d037. Given this admitted statutory ambiguity,
it is not one to be dewéd at this juncture.

D. The Court Ordersthe Defendantsto Produce the Requested Documents
Pertaining to Public Assistance Agencies

In light of the above decisionthe Court turns tthe Plaintiffs’ motion to compel, D. 58.
The Plaintiffs move the Defendants to produb@mcuments responsive their First Set of
Requests for Production of Documents. D. 58he Plaintiffs seek documents containing
information concerning NVRA viot&gons at the Office of MassHehland documents reflecting
communications between the Secretary aileér agencies regarding NVRA compliafic®. 59
at 2.

1. Documents Related to MassHealth are Relevant

The only basis for the Defendants’ objectionthe MassHealth documents is that they
were not provided adequate pre-suit notice ohwtaiegarding the Office of MassHealth. D. 66
at 7-14. As discussed above, the Court has egjette Defendants’ position in this regard.
Accordingly, the Court finds that the requestlEtuments, which relate to NVRA violations by
the Office of MassHealth, are relevant to tRkintiffs’ claims and therefore ALLOWS the
motion to compel production of these documents.

2. The Secretary’s Documents Refleg Communications with Agencies

Because the Court denies the motion for judgment on the pleadings on substantive
grounds, it need not examine the Plaintiffs’ timeliness argumentD S&@ at 9—-10.

®While the Plaintiffs’ motion also seeks commeations sent or received from January 1,
2008 through January 1, 2010, the Court understandththagrties have relsed this issue and
need not address it. D. 66 at 2, n. 1.
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For the same reasons discussed above, the Court rejects the Defendants’ argument that
the Secretary need not producewdoents related to agencies@t than the DTA on the basis
that the notice letter was notfBcient. At the hearing and intheir papers, the Plaintiffs
represented to the Court that they semlly documents regarding NVRA compliance at
approximately six public assistance voter ségition agencies for which the Secretary is
statutorily obligated to ensure compliance witle NVRA,; they further represent to the Court
that they seek only those documents locatedinvitie Secretary’s own files and do not request
that the Secretary searte files of every publiassistance agency in his purview. D. 59 at 13,
n.8; D. 107 at 19. The Court however, agrees thi¢hDefendants to the extent they argue that
documents regarding voter regisima agencies that are not pubdissistance agencies, such as
the RMV, are not relevant and, therefore, thdiomto compel is DENIED to the extent that it
seeks RMV documents. The Plaintiffs arguattthe requested documents are relevant for
comparing the Secretary’s “oversight of votegis&ration efforts at the Registry of Motor
Vehicles with the Secretary’s oversight atbjie assistance agencies” and in fashioning a
remedy. D. 59 at 13. The parties do not dispuettie NVRA has a compldy distinct set of
requirements for the RMV, which do not refleah the requirements for public assistance
agencies. The Court finds thallowing the Plaintiffs to olain documents outside of those
pertaining to NVRA violabns at public assistance agencé®tches beyond the scope of what
is relevant to the Plaintiffs’ claims. Theoeg, the Court ALLOWS IN PART the Plaintiffs’
motion to compel to the extettitat it seeks documents reflexjithe Secretary’s communications

with public assistance agenci®/RA violations and compliancé.

"The Court ALLOWSnunc pro tuncthe Plaintiffs’ motion for leave to file a reply in
support of the motion to compel, D. 78. The Gaansidered the proposed reply, D. 78-1, in
resolving the motion to compel.
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VI. Conclusion

For the above reasons, the Court ALLOWE thotion to amend the complaint, D. 62;
DENIES the Defendants’ motionrfgudgment on the pleadings, 05; ALLOWS IN PART and
DENIES IN PART the motion to eopel, D. 58; and ORDERS that:

1. The Defendants produce the requested dectsregarding the Office of MassHealth

and records regarding the Secretary’s comigations with otheipublic assistance

agencies about NVRA violamhs and compliance; and

2. The Plaintiffs file within seven days amended complaint that complies with this
Order.

The Court ALLOWS the Plaintiffs’ motion twithdraw Delgado as a named Plaintiff, D.
103, and ALLOWShunc pro tundhe Plaintiffs’ motion for leave to file a reply in support of the
motion to compel, D. 78, and the feadants’ motion to file a sueply to the motion to amend,

D. 89.

So Ordered.

&/ Denise J. Casper
Lhited States District Judge
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